FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/22/2021 1:53 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Nos. 36805-0-III & 36806-8-III 99699-7

DORIS MARIE GREEN a/k/a Lopez, Petitioner, Appellant

and

MERIDITH EUGENE TOWN, Petitioner/Appellant.

v.
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David B. Owens, WSBA #53856 LOEVY & LOEVY 100 S. King Street, Ste. 100 Seattle, WA 98104 david@loevy.com

Debra Loevy
The Exoneration Project
AT THE UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO
311 N. Aberdeen Street, 3rd Floor
Chicago, Illinois 60607
(312) 789-4955

Counsel for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

Doris Green and Meredith Eugene Town were undisputedly wrongfully convicted in the State of Washington and were exonerated in 2000 and 1999, respectively. They have sought compensation under a 2013 statute, the Wrongly Convicted Person's Act (WCPA or Act), RCW 4.100. *et seq.* Despite no challenge to their innocence, Green and Town's requests for remedies under the Act were rejected. These consolidated cases present issues of tremendous importance and substantial public interest that demand this Court's review; namely, determining, as a matter of first impression, how provisions under WCPA should be interpreted.

The WCPA is a remedial statute that allows exonerated individuals to obtain limited relief for the injustice of being wrongfully stripped of their liberty. The WCPA sets forth a straightforward, sequential manner of proceeding from the pleading phase (governed by RCW 4.100.040), to the adjudication phase (under RCW 4.100.060), to any post-judgment issues (RCW 4.100.080). The rules at each phase are unlike typical tort litigation, creating uncertainty and dispute about how WCPA claims should proceed.

This Court has never interpreted the WCPA, and substantial uncertainty exists for wrongfully convicted Washingtonians attempting to pick up the pieces of their lives while trying to navigate an uncertain and unclear legal landscape of remedies for their harm. Litigation in these two

consolidated cases and others pending before trial courts and at the Courts of Appeal need clarification on basic matters under the WCPA, including whether actions under the Act are "special proceedings" under CR 81; whether claims under the Act can be prematurely dismissed for reasons not set forth in unambiguous statutory text in RCW 4.100.040; whether courts can import requirements not mentioned for adjudication into .060; and the reach, if any, of the "waiver and release" provisions included in RCW4.100.080, for claimants who have received a payment, no matter how small or when received, related to their wrongful conviction.

Here, Green and Town were exonerated long before the WCPA was enacted and filed timely compensation claims. Shockingly, the trial court dismissed the complaints *with prejudice* due to a purported pleading defect at the .040 stage, without allowing an opportunity to amend the filings.

For its part, the Court of Appeals affirmed on an entirely different basis, reasoning that the post-judgment requirements in RCW 4.100.080 could be read to preclude Petitioners from obtaining a judgment for reasons not mentioned at all in .060 (because they had reached small settlements with Wenatchee in tort suits a decade before the Act was passed). To the Court of Appeals, payment of any remedy *whatsoever*—even an amount far less than what a claimant is entitled to under the Act and paid well before the WCPA existed—precludes entry of a WCPA

judgment. But .060 does not include a "no-prior payment" rule; and .080 does render the post-judgment waiver of future claims ineffective at the time of execution based on of the existence of a prior payment.

The proper interpretation of a new, *sui generis* remedial statute in Washington serves a profound public interest, one the Legislature recognized when passing the statute in the first place. Litigation under the WCPA is in dire need of clarification and has impacted the cases of Green and Town; claims filed by Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler, *Larson v. State*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 730 (3d Div. 2019); the claim of Donovan Allen pending before the Court of Appeals, *Allen v. State*, Court of Appeals No. 54172-6-II; and other exonerees who have been freed but lack clarification for how the Act should be interpreted.

Additionally, this Court should review this matter because the decision of the Court of Appeals, electing to file prior decision *Larson v*. *State*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 730 (3d Div. 2019) (*Larson II*), contradicts this Court's binding precedent concerning statutory interpretation. This Court makes clear that: unambiguous statutory language controls; courts cannot rewrite statutes to impose judicially-invented requirements for relief; and remedial statutes must be construed in favor of those they are designed to serve—here, the wrongfully convicted. The decision below, like *Larson II*, contradicts these established rules, warranting review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Claimant-Petitioners Doris Green and Meredith Eugene Town, ask the Court to accept review of the lower Court's decision terminating review.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The unpublished Court of Appeals decision was filed on March 23, 2021, and is attached as Appendix A to this Petition.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the WCPA created a "special proceeding" under CR 81 that requires actions to be interpreted in accordance with the statute, rather than the civil rules, where they conflict.
- 2. Whether courts are permitted to add requirements to the unambiguous statutory language in RCW 4.100.040 or .060 to find that claimants are not entitled to judgment under the WCPA based upon court-invented requirements not in the statute.
- 3. Whether the WCPA's post-judgment waiver-and-release provision in RCW 4.100.080 can be applied to preclude a judgment that is mandatory under .060 and to retroactively deprive wrongfully convicted individuals of statutory remedies in any and all circumstances where a prior recovery has been provided to a wrongfully convicted claimant.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **Relevant Facts and Procedural History**

In January 1994, Wenatchee Police Department Detective Robert R. Perez was appointed lead investigator for the Chelan and Douglas Counties' Interdisciplinary Sexual Abuse Team. DG CP at 4; MET CP at 3; Ombud. Rev. at 8.1 Detective Perez's profoundly flawed investigative tactics—which included pressure, fabrication, and other misdeeds—led to 43 arrests for thousands of charges of alleged rape and child molestation in the area. DG CP at 5-6. Many of the accused were illiterate or mentally ill. DG CP at 6. Twenty-five defendants were convicted. Ombud. Rev. at i. Of those, 18 have since had their convictions set aside and most of the remaining accused received suspended sentences or were released in the wake of the exonerations on credit for time served. DG CP at 6. These charges have been called a "witch-hunt" seeking to drum up allegations of

¹ Citations to the record are: Doris Green's Clerk's Papers as "DG CP"; Meridith Eugene Town's Clerk's Papers as "MET CP"; the transcript from the joint motion to dismiss hearing, February 28, 2018, as "RP"; and the Office of the Family and Children Ombudsman's full-scale independent review of the Wenatchee investigations, as "Ombud. Rev." The Report was previously filed with the Superior Court. See Town Personal Restraint Petition, Case No. 94-1-00136-2, Ex. at 66. It is also available online, see https://www.digitalarchives.wa.gov/GovernorGregoire/ofco/reports/ofco 1998.pdf. The Ombudsman Review uses pseudonyms for Detective Perez (Detective Palmer); Ms. Green (Mrs. Grant); the Holt family (the Hulls); and the Town family (the Tobins). The Appendix is cited as "App'x."

sexual predation of children, even where none existed. *See, e.g.*, *Devereaux v. Abbey*, 263 F.3d 1070, 1083 and n.2 (9th Cir. 2001) (Kleinfeld, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part).

Two people caught up in this witch-hunt, but totally innocent, were Doris Green and Eugene Town. In January 1995, a jury convicted Green of three counts of rape and molestation, and she was sentenced to 23.5 years in prison. DG CP at 5; 1997 WL 266794, at *1. After Ms. Green had served five years, she filed a personal restraint petition demonstrating her innocence, Case No. 94-1-00434-5. The prosecuting attorney joined in asking that Green's convictions be vacated and she be released, based on, *inter alia*, police misconduct and evidence that the crime never occurred. DG CP at 1-2. With the State's agreement, the appeals court set aside the convictions, and the charges were dismissed in January 2000. DG CP at 8.

Eugene Town was also ensnared by Detective Perez's fraudulent investigation. In June 1994, Town falsely pleaded guilty to Perez's fictional sex offenses and was sentenced to twenty years in prison, avoiding potential lifelong imprisonment. *Id.* at 1. Town served six years before his convictions were vacated, after submitting medical evidence and psychological reports that undermined the prosecution theory and, separately, that pointed to the pervasive pattern of police misconduct. *Id.* at 1-2. The prosecutor joined Town's counsel in asking the court to vacate

Town's convictions and immediately release him on the grounds, among other things, that the crimes had never taken place. *Id.* at 1-2. In June 2000, Town's personal restraint petition was granted, his convictions were vacated, charges against him were dismissed, and he was released. *Id.* at 2.

B. WCPA Proceedings Below

In 2016, Petitioners filed timely Complaints for Compensation for Wrongful Conviction. DG CP at 1; MET CP at 1; RCW 4.100.090. The State filed motions to dismiss, alleging pleading and procedural defects. DG CP at 16-17; MET CP at 16-17. In its motions, the State asserted argued that RCW 4.100.040's "documentary evidence" requirement at the pleading phase had not been satisfied and that RCW 4.100.080 precluded the claims. As it relates to the .080 argument, the State pointed out that both Green and Town had settled tort suits against Wenatchee before the WCPA and for sums *less than* they would receive under the Act.

The trial court only reached the "documentary evidence" argument and dismissed the claims without giving Green and Town the opportunity to amend to add additional evidence in support of their claims. DG CP at 163-64; MET CP at 104-05. Green and Town appealed, arguing that the Court's interpretation of .040 was faulty; that dismissal without an opportunity to amend was inappropriate; that the trial court failed to consider the remedial nature of the statute; and that the trial court failed to

recognize that litigation under the WCPA constitutes a "special proceeding" under CR 81. Petitioners emphasized that the sequential structure of the act, with .040 at the filing stage and .060 at adjudication, provides that judgement *shall* be entered in favor of a wrongfully convicted person who can prove their innocence within the meaning set forth in the .060 and that it would be erroneous for the Court to add a prerequisite to obtaining a judgment under .060 that is not in the statute.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, but it did so by only addressing the State's .080 argument, without discussing the trial court's rationale concerning .040. *See generally* Appendix. In so doing, the Court of Appeals did not address the threshold issues raised by Green and Town, namely, that: CR 81 should control; .040 should have been deemed satisfied; .060 sets forth the exclusive requirements needed to obtain a judgment under the Act; .080 has no effect until after a judgment is entered in a claimant's favor; and even if .080 could hypothetically apply, it should not be a bar here, where Green and Town were exonerated long before the WCPA was passed and both settled their tort suits for less than they would have been eligible to recover under the Act.

Nonetheless, and despite no contention Green or Town were anything but innocent and wrongfully convicted, the Court of Appeals affirmed by heavily relying on its prior decision in *Larson II*. In *Larson II*,

the Court of Appeals reasoned that "because both claimants received compensation from Chelan County and the city of Wenatchee in their federal district court action[,] . . . their receipt of such compensation prevents them from providing an effective wavier and legal release, a condition precedent for receiving compensation under the WCPA." App'x at A7-8. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals did not address the unambiguous text of .060; it did not address the fact that Green and Town were factually different than the claimants in *Larson*, whose exonerations and tort settlements took place <u>after</u> the Act was in effect; and it did not provide any rationale for why a release signed by Green or Town would somehow be "ineffective." *Id*.

It was *Larson II* where the Court of Appeals permitted courts to hop-scotch .060's mandatory language and where the court invented a statutory requirement of waivers being "effective," finding that a wavier is "ineffective" as a matter of law for a "claimant who has received a tort award or settlement" because such a claimant "will not be able to waive claims and execute a legal release." 9 Wash. App. 2d at 740. *Larson II* cited no authority for this proposition, and these words do not appear in the WCPA.

Without considering the different *legal* arguments presented in this appeal—specifically about CR 81 and about .060—and without

considering the fundamentally different factual circumstances—*e.g.*, Green and Town were exonerated and settled their cases before the WCPA was enacted and their tort settlements were *less* than compensation they would receive under the Act—the Court of Appeals applied its erroneous *Larson II* rationale again to Green and Town's claims.

VI. ARGUMENT AND GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

A. Interpretation of the WCPA, an Issue of First Impression, Raises Issues of Substantial Public Importance

There should be no dispute that the Washington legislature, and indeed the State's criminal justice system, recognize the gravity of wrongful conviction and incarceration of the innocent. According to the National Registry of Exonerations, which tracks and documents these issues, to date there have been 50 exonerees in Washington State. *See*Nat'l Registry of Exonerations, https://tinyurl.com/y64419k5 (last visited April 21, 2021). The WCPA was enacted in 2013 because Washington had become an outlier in having no statute to address the needs of this vulnerable and wronged population. 2013 WA H.B. 134, Committee Report (April 1, 2013). The WCPA addresses important and pressing issues concerning the wrongfully convicted—recognition not only that they have been wronged but also that they should be afforded redress.

Unfortunately, in the eight years since the WCPA was enacted, there has been substantial uncertainty and lack of clarity about how litigation under the Act works. For example, in a stark departure from

normal civil litigation under CR 8, RCW 4.100.040 requires that an actionable claim include "documentary evidence." But the WCPA does not indicate what happens if a court deems the quantum of evidence submitted is insufficient in the first go-around. Presumably, something at least as generous as CR 15 must apply, where leave to amend should be freely given (and particularly here because there is no law on this issue).

Likewise, .060, enumerates extremely specific statutory requirements that a claimant must show by clear and convincing evidence "in order to obtain a judgment in his or her favor" that relate to being actually innocent, and when those requirements are met "the court <u>must</u> order the state to pay the actually innocent claimant the following compensation award." RCW4.100.060(1), (5) (emphasis added). There is no room in this language for other judicially-created hurdles to relief, yet the Court of Appeals in two decisions has held that .080's post-judgment requirements of executing a waiver and release somehow retroactively create a "no prior payment" showing that must be met before judgment can be obtained, contradicting .060.

This new requirement has already defeated the claims of Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler; Doris Green and Eugene Town; and Donovan Allen, whose claim is pending in the Court of Appeals.

And the State's aggressive litigation strategies under the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the Act has led to motions concerning the .080 waiver provisions in other cases, even sometimes arguing that .080 can bar a WCPA claim just because of the existence of other tort litigation, even

when no judgment or settlement has been reached. This Court's guidance is necessary to ensure that those exonerated in the future can proceed with clear guidance that will not put them in a "Catch 22" as it concerns assessing their remedies for wrongful conviction.

This Court should grant review to interpret the Act so that both those already exonerated and future exonerees have clear guidance about how an important remedial statute works—including the right time and manner to file a WCPA claim and clarity about whether a wrongfully convicted person's rights under the statute might be compromised by the sequencing of their potential filings. *Cf. State v. T.J.S.-M.*, 193 Wn.2d 450, 454 (2019) (finding timing issues in juvenile sentencing to be a substantial public interest this Court should review and noting the "need for future guidance" as a further reason for review).²

In so doing, as explained below, this Court should clarify that: (1) claims under the WCPA are special proceedings pursuant to CR81; (2) claimants deemed not to have supplied enough "documentary evidence" at

2

² This Court's decisions concerning whether there is a substantial public interest to review a decision that has become moot are an illustrative analogy here. The Court considers three things: (1) whether the questions are public in nature, including involving constitutional questions and statutory interpretation; (2) desirability of an authoritative determination for future guidance; and (3) whether the situation is likely to recur. *See State v. Beaver*, 184 Wn. 2d 321, 330 (2015). Each of these criterion are satisfied here: the interpretation of the WCPA is public; there is a need for authoritative determination for both public officials and the wrongfully convicted; and the issue is likely to recur (and, in fact, already has).

the pleading stage should be given the liberal opportunity to amend; (3) .060 sets forth the only mandatory criteria for obtaining a judgment under the Act; and (4) the wrongfully convicted can pursue remedies under the WCPA regardless of whether they have previously recovered so long as they are willing, *at the time payment is sought*, to sign the legal release required by .080(1).

B. The Court of Appeals Contradicted Precedent

In at least three separate ways, the Court of Appeals' decision runs contrary to precedent from this Court.

1. The Court of Appeals Ignored the Nature of These Proceedings

Enacted in 2013, the WCPA created an entirely new remedial scheme and cause of action against the State (for both financial and non-monetary compensation) for a certain class of people—the wrongfully convicted. RCW 4.100.020. The Act sets out substantive requirements to be met in order to file an "actionable claim for compensation," including that it be accompanied by "documentary evidence." RCW 4.100.040. At the pleading stage, the State can concede a claim or seek its dismissal, as can the trial court. *Id.* Ultimately, after the pleading stage, "in order to obtain a judgment in his or her favor" a claim of actual innocence must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. RCW 4.100.060(1). Where that threshold is met, "the court <u>must</u> order the state to pay the actually

innocent claimant" a compensation award based upon a mathematical formula. RCW 4.100.060(5) (emphasis added).

Before enacting the WCPA, Washington had no mechanism for compensating the wrongfully convicted; the WCPA was created to fill this gap. RCW 4.100.010. With the WCPA, the legislature recognized that "persons convicted and imprisoned for crimes they did not commit have been uniquely victimized," including the "tremendous injustice by being stripped of their lives and liberty," the pain of imprisonment and further trauma from being "later stigmatized as felons." *Id*.

Moreover, the Act specifically provides accrual rules for people exonerated before the WCPA existed, RCW 4.100.090, and requires the exonerated be provided with notice of the WCPA that might extend the accrual of a claim. RCW 4.100.070(3). No such rules apply to normal tort actions. The Legislature also requires that courts construe the requirements of the WCPA in light of the "difficulties of proof" such as passage of time, destruction of evidence, or impediments not "caused by the parties." RCW 4.100.060. No such statutory requirement exists for typical civil suits.

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