FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/30/2021 10:12 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99699-7

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DORIS MARIE GREEN,

Petitioner,

and

MERIDITH EUGENE TOWN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Marko Hananel Assistant Attorney General WSBA #56592, OID #91093 Attorney General's Office 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 867-0269 Marko.Hananel@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. REASONS TO DENY REVIEW

A. State v. Larson Resolves the Instant Case and Provides Clear Guidance to Litigants and Trial Courts

In *Larson*, the Court of Appeals held that "the WCPA conditions compensation on a wrongly convicted person's ability to provide an effective waiver and legal release of claims." 9 Wn. App. 2d at 743. Those who have already recovered for their wrongful conviction through another legal avenue cannot—by definition—"waive" or "release" their claims. *Id.* at 740-41. Accordingly, they are ineligible for compensation under the Act. *Id.* at 743.

This conclusion is rooted in two aspects of the plain text of the statute. First, the text of RCW 4.100.080(1) states that "[a]s a requirement to making a request for relief under this chapter, the claimant waives any and all other remedies, causes of action, and other forms of relief or compensation ... related to the claimant's wrongful ... imprisonment." It also requires the claimant to execute a "legal release" before any payment

under the chapter and requires the State to be refunded if that waiver is held invalid for any reason. *Id*.

Second, the "operative" text is informed by the immediately preceding statement of the Legislature's intent. *Larson*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 742. It clarifies "that the remedies and compensation provided [under the WCPA] shall be exclusive to all other remedies at law and in equity against the state or a political subdivision of the state." RCW 4.100.080(1). Thus, both the operative text and statement of legislative intent support the *Larson* court's plain reading of the WCPA.

The Court of Appeals properly applied *Larson*'s holding in this case. As in *Larson*, Green and Town recovered for their wrongful convictions from a political subdivision of Washington. DG CP 104; MET CP 58. As a prerequisite to requesting relief under the WCPA, they must waive those claims. RCW 4.100.080(1). Indeed, the WCPA's waiver requirement explicitly references the specific type of claim under which the plaintiffs in *Larson* and Green and Town recovered: 42 U.S.C. Section 1983. *Id.* But they cannot "waive" a claim for which they have already recovered and therefore cannot recover under the WCPA. *Larson*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 743.

Green and Town briefly attempt to distinguish *Larson*'s facts on two grounds. First, they argue that its holding should not apply to persons who settled their claims before the passage of the WCPA. Pet. 14. This fact,

however, does not influence or inform any identifiable part of the text of the statute; its plain text requires waiver and release of "any and all" claims against the State related to the person's wrongful conviction and imprisonment. RCW 4.100.080(1). The statute does not distinguish between past, present, or future claims. In fact, the *Larson* court rejected a similar argument when it determined that the waiver provisions were not only "prospective." Larson, 9 Wn. App. at 739. There, as here, such a reading conflicts with the plain text and improperly seeks to insert additional words not used by the Legislature. *Id.*; *Restaurant Development, Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003) ("a court must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them"). There is no textual basis to Green and Town's argument and therefore no grounds for departing from the plain reading of the statute in *Larson*. *Larson*, 9 Wn. App. at 739. And the argument conflicts with the stated intent of WCPA: to provide a legal remedy for the majority of the wrongfully convicted who do not otherwise have one. RCW 4.100.010.

Second, Green and Town repeatedly argue that applying *Larson* unfairly limits them to "small settlements" that are "far less" than they would recover under the WCPA. Pet. 2, 7, 8, 9-10. They provide no citation or calculation supporting this conclusion, and adjusting for inflation brings the settlements into alignment with a contemporary recovery under the

WCPA.³ In any case, the argument is again unmoored from the text and irrelevant to any factor identified by the Legislature in the statute. Further, the Legislature's stated intent is not that any one person's recovery should be maximized or supplemented, but that no wrongly convicted person should be entirely *without* a remedy. RCW 4.100.010. The *Larson* court made the same observation respecting the WCPA's limited remedial purpose in its decision. *Larson*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 743. For these reasons, Green and Town's arguments fail to distinguish *Larson*.

Finally, Green and Town argue that *Larson* leaves substantial unanswered questions that this Court should answer immediately. Pet. 10-13. This argument fails because *Larson* provides clear guidance to potential plaintiffs and trial courts alike that the WCPA's remedy is exclusive to all others. As discussed above, that holding is sufficient to dispose of this case. To the extent that other questions remain about the application of the WCPA in different circumstances, the best course of action is for those cases to work their way through the appellate courts. Granting review in this case will not provide clarity or guidance about other issues not raised by this appeal.

³ After adjusting for inflation based on the consumer price index, Green's settlement was worth about \$212,000 at the time of filing in 2016 and Town's about \$270,000. U.S. BUREAU OF LABOR STATISTICS, CPI Inflation Calculator, https://www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm. Under the WCPA, Green would be entitled to roughly \$250,000 and Town about \$300,000.

B. This Decision and *State v. Larson* are Consistent with Precedent

1. The Court of Appeals correctly understood the "nature" of the WCPA

Green and Town argue that, in applying *Larson* to the instant case, the Court of Appeals failed to consider that remedial purpose of the WCPA. Pet. 13-15. This argument lacks merit for two reasons.

First, *Larson* expressly recognized the WCPA's remedial purpose in addressing this same argument. The court acknowledged that it had previously held that the WCPA is a remedial statute, but nonetheless explained that the Act has a narrower remedial purpose: to address "the 'majority of those wrongly convicted in Washington state *[who] have no remedy available* under the law." *Larson*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 743 (quoting RCW 4.100.010). That purpose does not support Green and Town's reading of the statute to "add one more remedy to others that might be available." *Id.* Thus, *Larson*'s plain reading of the WCPA does not conflict with the remedial nature of the statute.

Second, Green and Town never identify any authority supporting their claim that this decision or *Larson* conflicts with precedent. They claim that the WCPA's status is a "special proceeding" exempt from the civil rules under Civil Rule 81, but cite only *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center*, *P.S.*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 216 P.3d 374 in support. Pet. 15. *Putman* describes the requirements for a "special proceeding," but holds only that

medical malpractice suits are not such proceedings. *Id.* at 982. This decision is not in conflict with *Larson* and Green and Town provide no other authority. In any case, as discussed more completely below, *see infra* pp. 17-18, establishing that the WCPA may be a special proceeding without establishing a conflict with the civil rules is insufficient to demonstrate an error. Consequently, there are no grounds for review and this Court should decline to review this issue. RAP 13.4(b).

2. Green and Town's reading of the WCPA—not Larson's—conflicts with fundamental rules of statutory interpretation

Green and Town argue that this decision and *Larson* conflict with basic tenants of statutory interpretation. Pet. 15-17. They raise three arguments, urging that the Court of Appeals in *Larson* erroneously: (1) read the word "effective" into RCW 4.100.080; (2) added "new requirements" to RCW 4.100.040; and (3) allowed the Legislature's stated intent to "trump" the statutory text. Each is without merit.

Green and Town first argue that, although they must "execute a legal release," RCW 4.100.080, there is no textual requirement that the waiver or release actually be "effective." Pet. 19. This argument was explicitly rejected in *Larson*. Anticipating "the specious argument that 'execute a legal release' means nothing more than to sign a document entitled 'Release," the court explained that the requirement "is an act having legal

substance that cannot be done by a claimant who has already obtained a tort award or settlement from state actors." *Larson*, 9 Wn. App. 2d, 742 n.3. To argue otherwise is to insist that the Legislature included inert, surplus words into the statute despite all presumptions to the contrary. *State v. Lundquist*, 60 Wn.2d. 397, 403, 374 P.2d 246 (1962) ("A legislative body is presumed not to have used superfluous words.").

Second, reading sections 040, 060, and 080 of the WCPA in isolation from one another, Green and Town argue that the trial court was barred from deciding that they were ineligible for compensation under the WCPA prior to trial. Pet. 17, 20. But this "divide-and-conquer" approach to statutory interpretation is counter to established precedent; statutes "must be read as a whole." Pub. Sch. Emps. of Sunnyside Teaching Assistants v. Sunnyside Sch. Dist., 69 Wn. App. 630, 634, 849 P.2d 1287 (1993). In fact, Section 080 requires that Green and Town waive their other remedies as a "requirement to making a request for relief under this chapter." RCW 4.100.080 (emphasis added). Thus, Section 080's waiver requirement applies at the onset of proceedings under the WCPA. Id. Green and Town cannot satisfy this requirement and thus cannot recover. Larson, 9 Wn. App. 2d 743. To require a court to summon a jury and hold a trial to establish an award that cannot be recovered would be a waste of judicial resources and an absurd result—not sound statutory interpretation.

See State v. Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 823, 239 P.3d 354 (2010) (courts presume that the Legislature does not intend absurd results).

Third and finally, Green and Town argue that "the legislature's codified declaration of intent cannot 'trump the plain language of the statute." Pet. 18-19 (citing *State v. Granath*, 190 Wn.2d 548, 556, 415 P.3d 1179 (2018)). Their citation, however, omits critical context. The cited precedent states only that a statement of legislative intent cannot *contradict* the plain language of the statute. *Granath*, 190 Wn. 2d 548, 556 (rejecting a public policy argument that is "inconsistent" with the plain language of the statute). Indeed, this Court considers "an enacted statement of legislative purpose [to be] included in a plain reading." *G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep't. of Revenue*, 169 Wn.2d 304, 310, 237 P.3d 256 (2010). Here, where the Legislature's statement corroborates the *Larson* court's reading of the statute, Green and Town's objection lacks force.

- C. Green and Town's Other Issues do Not Warrant Review on this Record and do Not Present Issues of Substantial Public Interest
 - 1. There is no dispute over the "quantum" of documentary evidence required; Green and Town included no documentation whatsoever

Green and Town argue that the WCPA's requirement of documentary evidence at the time of pleading is shrouded in uncertainty as to the "quantum" of evidence required. Pet. 10-11. Examination of this issue is unwarranted here because there is no dispute as to the *amount* of evidence

required. Despite the plain language of the WCPA requiring documentary evidence at the pleading stage, RCW 4.100.040(1), Green and Town did not attach any such evidence whatsoever.

The statute explicitly requires the claimant to establish his or her claims "by documentary evidence" and provides dismissal as a remedy for the failure to meet statutory conditions. *Id.* (1), (6). The trial court had no difficulty determining that Green and Town fell short of this statutory commandment without any determination of exactly how much evidence was required. DG CP 113. Accordingly, this record does not provide a basis to provide further guidance to litigants about the amount of documentary evidence required.

2. Green and Town's last-second attempt to amend was untimely

Green and Town briefly argues that this Court should grant review to clarify that WCPA plaintiffs "should be given the liberal opportunity to amend [the complaint]." Pet. 13. Review of that issue is unnecessary. Green and Town did not raise the issue until almost two years into the pendency of their suit and five months after the State filed its motion to dismiss. It is therefore untimely.

At the hearing on the motion to dismiss and during a colloquy with the trial court at the conclusion of argument, Green and Town suggested that they should be allowed to supply the missing documentary evidence if the trial court was unwilling to take judicial notice of the records. VRP 22. The Court of Appeals appears to have considered this conditional reference to possibly amending the complaint as insufficient to raise the issue to the trial court. *Green*, No. 36805-0, slip op., 2 (dismissing the amendment issue after observing that "neither claimant requested an opportunity to amend their complaint").

Even assuming that amendment was requested and judging it by the leniency typically afforded to such requests, Green and Town's request was untimely and fairly denied. *See Wallace v. Lewis County*, 134 Wn. App. 1, 25-26, 137 P.3d 101 (2006) (affirming denial of motion to amend where party delayed filing amended complaint for longer than one year until shortly before summary judgment hearing); *Trust Fund Services v. Glasscar, Inc.*, 19 Wn. App. 736, 745, 577 P.2d 980 (1978) (characterizing motion to amend pleading during summary judgment consideration as "untimely attempt to insert a new circumstance into the proceedings too late in the game"). Reversal on this record would promote neglect, not leniency. Accordingly, review of this issue would not yield helpful guidance to lower courts or future litigants and is not a matter of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b).

3. Green and Town waived their CR 81 argument and it does not implicate manifest error affecting a constitutional right

Green and Town argue that "the trial court failed to recognize that litigation under the WCPA constitutes a 'special proceeding' under CR 81" and that this Court should answer the question squarely to provide guidance to lower courts. Pet. 7-8, 12. This Court should decline to review this issue for two reasons: it is unpreserved and undeveloped.

First, the argument is unpreserved. Despite allegations of the trial court's "failure," Green Town did not mention Civil Rule 81 in their response to the State's motion to dismiss or during argument at the hearing thereon. "The general rule is that appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (citing RAP 2.5). In response to this argument before the Court of Appeals, Green and Town did not dispute that the issue was neither preserved nor manifest constitutional error. Pet'rs' Reply Br. 3. They do not argue differently now. Accordingly, this Court should decline to review this unpreserved issue. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926.

Second, the argument is undeveloped. Even assuming that the WCPA is a "special proceeding" for the purposes of CR 81, Green and Town fail to explain which civil rule, if any, was wrongly permitted to prevail over an "inconsistent" provision in the WCPA. *See* CR 81. Appellate

courts "do not address an issue that has not been fully argued." *Singleton v. Naegeli Reporting Corp.*, 142 Wn. App. 598, 602 n.2, 175 P.3d 594.

Review is not justified even if this Court were to entertain the argument and hypothetically consider rules that might conflict with Green and Town's theory of the WCPA. If they intend to argue that the WCPA's specific "phases" of proceeding⁴ preclude a motion for summary judgment under Civil Rule 56, for example, they are still unlikely to prevail on the merits. *See Mathers v. State*, 100 Wn. App. 336, 340, 998 P.2d 336 (2000) (despite being a "special proceeding" under CR 81 where the offender is afforded heightened protections, the Sexually Violent Predator statute is consistent with motions for summary judgment under CR 56). This Court should decline to review an issue that will not provide guidance to lower courts.

4. Larson already holds that concurrent actions under the WCPA and other tort litigation are permissible

Green and Town urge that the State's "aggressive litigation strategies" have sown doubt about whether a WCPA claim can proceed simultaneously with other tort litigation based on the same wrongful conviction. Pet. 11. Here too, however, *Larson* provides clear and published guidance. Addressing an argument made by Spokane County in federal

⁴ See Pet. 14-15.

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